



TETRAHEDRON

Tetrahedron 59 (2003) 4475-4489

Tetrahedron report number 640

Fluorous technologies for solution-phase high-throughput organic synthesis

Wei Zhang*

Fluorous Technologies, Inc., University of Pittsburgh Applied Research Center, 970 William Pitt Way, Pittsburgh, PA 15238, USA

Received 24 March 2003

Dedicated to Professor Dennis P. Curran on the occasion of his 50th birthday

Contents

1.	Introduction	4475
2.	Fluorous separations	4476
	2.1. Fluorous solid-phase extraction (F-SPE)	4476
	2.2. Fluorous HPLC (F-HPLC)	4476
3.	Fluorous parallel synthesis	4477
	3.1. Using fluorous reagents	4477
	3.2. Using fluorous ligands and catalysts	4478
	3.3. Using fluorous scavengers	4479
	3.4. Using fluorous tags	4480
	3.5. Using fluorous protecting groups	4481
4.	Fluorous mixture synthesis (FMS)	4482
	4.1. Library or analog synthesis	4483
	4.2. Quasiracemic synthesis of enantiomers	4484
5.	. Peptide and oligosaccharide synthesis	
6.	Microwave-assisted fluorous synthesis 44	
7.	. Conclusions	

1. Introduction

The combination of compound library synthesis and highthroughput screening has become a powerful tool in today's drug discovery effort. Implementation of traditional solution-phase reactions in library synthesis, however, is hampered by the time-consuming step of product purification. The development of combinatorial synthesis on solid support has reduced the separation to be an easy wash and filtration process.¹ Large libraries can be prepared by split and pool of the beads. Compared to conventional solutionphase methods, solid-phase synthesis successfully addresses the separation issue, but sacrifices the reactivity of the supported substrates because of unfavorable heterogeneous reaction kinetics. In addition, time-consuming chemistry development and limitations on both the reaction scope and scale have slowed down further development of this technology. In drug discovery chemistry, with the recent paradigm shift from large libraries to relatively small and focused libraries, solution phase methods are making a comeback.² Several 'tag-based' solution-phase methods³ including polymer-assisted synthesis,⁴ soluble polymer-supported synthesis,⁵ dendrimer-supported synthesis,⁶ ring-opening metathesis polymerization (ROMP)-based synthesis,⁷ precipitation-based synthesis,⁹ ionizable tag-based synthesis,⁸ and fluorous synthesis have been developed.

The development of fluorous technologies for highthroughput organic synthesis was pioneered by Curran¹⁰ at the University of Pittsburgh from the mid 1990s and has been continuously developing at Fluorous Technologies, Inc. (FTI) since 2000.¹¹ Fluorous synthesis is a complementary type of liquid-phase synthesis that is similar to solid-phase synthesis in concept but very different in practice. Functionalized perfluoroalkyl groups, instead of beads, are employed as the 'phase tag'^{10c} to facilitate the

Keywords: fluorous reagents; high-throughput synthesis; parallel synthesis; fluorous synthesis; solution-phase synthesis.

^{*} Fax: +1-412-826-3053; e-mail: w.zhang@fluorous.com

 Table 1. Comparison of conventional solution-phase, solid-phase, and fluorous synthesis

	Solution phase	Solid phase	Fluorous
Literature methods used			
Broad reaction scope			L
Standard lab equipment			
Intermediate analysis			
Ease of scale-up	1		1
Familiarity to chemists			
Ease of purification			1
Use of excess reagent			
Mixture synthesis			
Potential for automation			

separation process. The fluorous chain can be attached to reagents, scavengers, and catalysts for parallel synthesis or attached to substrates for parallel and mixture synthesis. A comparison of conventional solution-phase, solid-phase, and fluorous synthesis is listed in Table 1 and some unique features of fluorous synthesis are outlined as follows:

- The fluorous tags are inert to chemical reactions and have minimal effect on the reactivity of the attached molecules.
- 2. The solubility of the 'light fluorous' molecules in organic solvents is equal or even better than the untagged molecules because of the lipophilicity of the perfluoroalkyl chain.
- 3. Homogeneous reactions in organic solvents are much faster than polymer-bound heterogeneous reactions.
- 4. Large excess of fluorous reagents is not needed.
- 5. The reaction process can be monitored by conventional analytical methods such as TLC, HPLC, IR and NMR.
- Both intermediates and final products can be purified by fluorous separations as well as by regular and reversephase chromatography.
- 7. Literature reaction conditions can be easily applied with little or no modification.
- 8. Scale up and automation are possible.
- 9. Accurate stoichiometric control on the input of fluorous compounds.

The goal of this Report is to summarize recent progress of fluorous technologies in high-throughput synthesis with the emphasis on 'light fluorous' chemistry and fluorous solventfree separation processes. Solution-phase parallel synthesis using fluorous reagents, catalysts, scavengers, tags, and protecting groups are discussed. Fluorous tag strategy in mixture synthesis, peptide and oligosaccharide synthesis, and microwave-assisted fluorous synthesis are also described.

2. Fluorous separations

Early fluorous synthesis technologies relied on 'heavy fluorous' tags (60% or more fluorine by molecular weight) and liquid–liquid extraction with fluorous solvents to separate fluorous molecules from non-fluorous organics.^{10,12} In the recently introduced 'light fluorous' synthesis (40% or less fluorine by molecular weight), shorter fluorous chains

 $(C_3F_7 \text{ to } C_{10}F_{21})$ are used and liquid–liquid extraction is replaced by fluorous silica gel-based solid-phase extraction or HPLC.^{13–15} Fluoro*Flash*TM silica gel has a bonded phase of C_8F_{17} perfluorohydrocarbon chains that has the capability to retain the fluorous molecules by strong fluorine–fluorine interactions. Since no fluorous solvents are required for reactions and separations, the 'light fluorous' method has quickly gained popularity in parallel and combinatorial synthesis.

2.1. Fluorous solid-phase extraction (F-SPE)

A mixture containing fluorous molecules with a Rf chain, such as C_6F_{13} or C_8F_{17} , can be easily separated from nonfluorous molecules by SPE with FluoroFlash[™] cartridges.^{13,14} In a typical separation, a crude reaction mixture is loaded onto a cartridge with a minimum amount of solvent (less than 20% of silica gel volume), then the cartridge is eluted with a 'fluorophobic solvent' such as 80:20 MeOH-H₂O to remove the non-fluorous compounds. Final elution with a 'fluorophilic solvent' such as MeOH, acetone, acetonitrile, or THF provides fluorous compounds.¹⁶ Depending on the chemistry, the desired product can be a non-fluorous compound in the first fraction (MeOH-H₂O) or a fluorous compound in the second fraction (MeOH). A demonstration with a mixture of nonfluorous (blue) and fluorous (orange) aminoanthraquinone dyes is shown in Figure 1. These two dyes can be separated on a HPLC column but not on the SPE cartridges charged normal or reverse-phase silica gel. The separation of these two dyes on a Fluoro*Flash*[™] cartridge, however, is very straightforward: the non-fluorous blue dye is readily eluted with 80:20 MeOH-H₂O (Fig. 1, picture 1), while the fluorous dye is retained until it is washed out with 100% MeOH (Fig. 1, pictures 2 and 3). It is noteworthy that on a C18 reverse-phase HPLC column the elution order of these two dyes is reversed: the fluorous orange dye comes out first. This result demonstrates that F-SPE is a tag-based instead of a polarity-controlled separation process.

A typical loading for SPE is between 5-15% by weight. The cartridge can be regenerated by washing with strong solvents such as MeOH, THF or acetone. F-SPE has been widely used in the parallel separation of reaction mixtures involving fluorous reagents, catalysts, scavengers, tags, and protecting groups. Plate-to-plate F-SPE can further enhance its utility in high-throughput purification. This technique is currently under development at FTI.

2.2. Fluorous HPLC (F-HPLC)

Fluoro*Flash*TM silica gel packed in an HPLC column can be used for separation of mixtures of fluorous compounds based on their different fluorine content.^{13,15} Molecules with longer fluorine chains (R_f) have longer retention times on the column. A typical mobile phase is a gradient of MeOH– H₂O with increasing MeOH up to 100%, which is similar to reverse-phase HPLC. Gradients of MeCN-H₂O or THF-H₂O can also be used. Figure 2 shows a tag-based separation of a 9-component mixture of isonipecotic acid derivatives with different fluorous tags (R_f).^{15a} Eight fluorous compounds ($R_f=C_3F_7$ to $C_{10}F_{21}$) were nicely distributed in a 30 min time period, while the non-fluorous compound W. Zhang / Tetrahedron 59 (2003) 4475-4489



Figure 1. F-SPE separation of non-fluorous (blue) and fluorous (orange) dye. (1) Elute with 80/20 CH₃OH/H₂O; (2) collect non-fluorous dye; (3) elute with CH₄OH for fluorous dye.



Figure 2. Tag-based F-HPLC separation of eight fluorous homologs.

 $(R_f=C_7H_{15})$ was eluted out with the solvent front because of its low affinity with the fluorous stationary phase. F-HPLC analysis and demixing have played a key role in fluorous mixture synthesis (Section 4).

3. Fluorous parallel synthesis

Light fluorous tags such as C_6F_{13} or C_8F_{17} chains are sufficient for F-SPE separations. There are no restrictions on the selection of reaction solvents because light fluorous compounds usually have similar or even better solubility than their un-tagged counterparts in organic solvents. Fluorous parallel synthesis can be performed either with fluorous reagents, catalysts, and scavengers for single-step reactions or with fluorous tags and protecting groups for multi-step synthesis. In both cases, the reaction mixtures can be purified by F-SPE.

3.1. Using fluorous reagents

One current trend in solution-phase parallel synthesis is the use of polymer-bound reagents.³ Polymer-assisted solutionphase reactions are heterogeneous, but no attachment and cleavage steps are required compared to solid-phase synthesis. In addition, excess polymer-bound reagents can be used to push the reactions to completion. Unreacted reagents and their derivatives can be easily removed by filtration of the reaction mixtures. Numerous polymerbound reagents and catalysts are now commercially available. A similar concept is being adapted to fluorous reagents (Scheme 1), where reactions can be performed in a homogeneous environment. Fluorous triphenylphosphine and diethyl azodicarboxylate (DEAD), for example, have been developed by Dandapani and Curran and used for the Mitsunobu reaction (Scheme 2).¹⁷ Fluorous triphenylphosphines have also been employed by Bannwarth and co-workers^{18a} for the Aza-Wittig reaction and by Lindsley and co-workers for the Staudinger reaction (Scheme 3).^{18b} Normally problematic phosphine oxide species can be



Scheme 1. Reaction using fluorous reagent.

RCO₂H	R'OH F-TPP, F-DE	F-SPE	► RCO ₂ R'
F-TPP	Ph(C ₆ H₄CH	l ₂ CH ₂ C ₆ F ₁₃) ₂	
F-DEAD	C ₆ F ₁₃ ~_0	0 0 N=N 0	C ₆ F ₁₃
Prod	uct	R' yi	eld (purity) (%)
O₂N ∕∕∕	CO₂R'	CH3	93(100)
	J	CH ₂ CH=CH ₂	85(100)
NC) ₂	<i>p</i> -FC ₆ H₄CH₂	75(91)
\sim		CH ₃	93(100)
	0021	CH ₂ CH=CH ₂	78(100)
U ₂ IN		p-FC ₆ H₄CH₂	88(100)

Scheme 2. Fluorous Mitsunobu reaction.



*Purities \geq 95% by LCMS-214 nm

Scheme 3. Fluorous Staudinger reaction.

separated easily by F-SPE either on individual reactions or in parallel. The non-fluorous products are collected in the first fraction eluted with MeOH–H₂O. The fluorous reagent derivatives are retained on the cartridge. Many fluorous reagents including organotin compounds,^{14a,19} coupling agents, oxidation²⁰ and reduction agents are known and new ones are appearing regularly.^{21,22}

3.2. Using fluorous ligands and catalysts

The development of fluorous biphasic synthesis was

pioneered by Horvath and Rabai in early 1990s.^{12a,b} In a fluorous biphasic catalytic reaction, a fluorous phase containing a fluorous catalyst is mixed with an organic phase containing organic reagents. The mixture is heated up until it becomes a homogenous system to allow the catalytic reaction take place. When the reaction is over, cooling down the reaction mixture renders it a fluorous and organic biphasic system. The fluorous catalyst is recovered in the fluorous phase and the product is separated from the organic phase. Heavy fluorous ligands are usually required for efficient recovery of fluorous catalysts by the fluorousorganic liquid extraction. Conducting the fluorous catalytic reaction in an organic solvent followed by the F-SPE separation eliminates the use of expensive fluorous solvents



catalyst: $Cl_2Pt[(PPh-p-CH_2CH_2C_6F_{13})_2]_2$ BTF: benzyltrifluoride

R	NMR yield (%)	GC-MS purity (%)
2,4-dinitro	100	100
2,4-dichloro	56	100
2-chloro-5-nitr	o 67	100
2-nitro	98	100
4-trifluorometh	ivi 66	100
2-bromo	60	100
3-bromo	71	100

Scheme 4. Fluorous platinum-catalyzed allylation reaction.



Scheme 5. Fluorous palladium-catalyzed Heck reaction.



Scheme 6. Fluorous scavenging reaction.

and to use of light fluorous ligands.²³ A parallel platinumcatalyzed allylation of aldehydes with fluorous allyl stannanes developed by the Curran group illustrates the utility of the fluorous arylphosphines in small-scale synthesis (Scheme 4).^{24a} In another case, a fluorous palladium catalyst was used in the Heck reaction (Scheme 5).^{24b} Other fluorous ligands such as BINOL and BINAP and their chiral versions have great potential in fluoroussolvent-free organic synthesis.²⁵ Since reactions require



*Purities \geq 95% by H NMR

Scheme 7. Use of electrophilic scavengers in the synthesis of ureas and thioureas.

very small amount of catalysts, existing 'heavy fluorous' ligands can be used to enhance the efficiency of F-SPE without significant increase of cost compared to use of light ligands.

3.3. Using fluorous scavengers

Scavengers are now widely applied in solution-phase parallel synthesis to selectively remove unwanted species from a reaction mixture.⁴ The scavengers can either be polymer-supported or fluorous molecules (Scheme 6). Following up on the early work by Curran and Wipf in the heavy fluorous area,²⁶ FTI and the Lindsley group at



Number in the parenthesis shows the purity by HPLC-245 nm

Scheme 8. Use of fluorous thiol scavenger in the synthesis of tertiary amines.



* reaction time required for >95% (HPLC) conversion of the bromide

Scheme 9. Fluorous vs polymer-supported thiol quenching.

Merck developed several light fluorous nucleophilic and electrophilic scavengers.^{27–29}

Scheme 7 demonstrates the use of isatoic anhydride **1** and isocyanate **2** as electrophilic scavengers to remove primary and secondary amines in the synthesis of urea, thiourea, and β -hydroxyamine analogs,²⁷ while Scheme 8 outlines the utility of fluorous thiol (C₆F₁₃CH₂CH₂SH) as a nucleophilic scavenger to remove unreacted halides in the parallel synthesis of a small tertiary amine library.^{28,29}

Because fluorous scavengers are used under homogeneous solution-phase conditions, the quenching process is fast and does not require large excess of scavengers. A comparison experiment revealed that fluorous thiol scavenging is about 10 times faster than that of a polymer-supported analog (Scheme 9).²⁸

3.4. Using fluorous tags

Similar to the linkers used in solid-phase synthesis, functionalized fluorous chains can be attached to substrates as tags and applied in multi-step synthesis (Scheme 10).

The use of a fluorous thiol tag in the synthesis of disubstituted pyrimidines has been recently reported by FTI (Scheme 11).³⁰ In this work, 1,3-dichloro-5-methylpyrimidine was first attached to the thiol tag by a nucleophilic substitution. Two regioisomers, **5a** and **5b** were generated in a ratio of 3:1 by HPLC analysis. If polymeric tags were used, then regioisomers like **5a** and **5b** could not have been separated. Fluorous compound **5a** was readily separated from **5b** by flash column chromatography on normal silica gel based on their polarity difference. The major isomer **5a** was used for further nucleophilic substitution with 3-(trifluoromethyl)-pyrazole to give **6**.



Scheme 10. Synthesis with fluorous tags.



* Number in the parenthesis is purity by HPLC-245 nm

Scheme 11. Synthesis of disubstituted pyrimidines with a fluorous thiol tag.

The thiol tag was then activated by oxidation to the sulfone and displaced by nucleophiles to afford disubstituted pyrimidine analogs. Both the intermediates and the final products were purified by F-SPE (Fig. 3). The fluorous intermediate **6** was collected in the MeOH fraction, while the final product was collected in the MeOH/H₂O fraction. The purities after F-SPE were usually greater than 90%.

The Marshall resin as a carbonate and carbamate linker has been widely used in solid-phase synthesis. We recently developed FluoMarTM as a fluorous version of the Marshall



Figure 3. ¹H NMR spectra of intermediate 6 and a product 7 before and after F-SPE.

resin and applied it in solution-phase synthesis of amide analogs (Scheme 12).³¹ In the preparation of a small demonstration library, carboxylic acids were coupled with FluoMarTM under standard conditions using diisopropyl-carbodiimide (DIC) and dimethylaminopyridine (DMAP). The fluorous tag was then displaced with a set of amines in parallel to give a small compound library.

We recently prepared a 120-membered substituted hydantoin and thiohydantoin library using fluorous amino esters as the starting material (Scheme 13).³² Two fluorous amino esters (\mathbb{R}^1 =*i*-Bu and Bz) were each reacted with six aldehydes under standard reductive amination conditions. The so-formed twelve intermediates **8** were then each reacted with 10 aryl isocyanates or aryl isothiocyanates in parallel. The resulting ureas or thioureas **9** were cyclized in situ to displace the fluorous tag to form the heterocyclic ring. All intermediates and products in this project were purified by F-SPE. LC-MS analysis of 120-membered library revealed that 88% of products had purities greater

than 90%, and about 90% products had yields greater than 50%.

3.5. Using fluorous protecting groups

The use of fluorous protecting groups is a 'hits two birds with one stone' strategy that protects the desired functional group and at the same time introduces the 'phase tag' for fluorous separation (Scheme 14).³³ Both protection and deprotection can be achieved by using traditional reaction conditions. Fluorous protecting agents such as silanes, Cbz, Boc, PMB, Fmoc for O and N protections are now commercially available (Scheme 15). Curran and collaborators have demonstrated the utility of F-Boc in the multistep synthesis of a 96-membered library of isonipecotic acid derivatives (Scheme 16).³⁴ In this chemistry, the amino group of the isonipecotic acid was first protected by F-Boc. The carboxylic group was then coupled with eight amines (R¹NHR²) in parallel to give eight amides **10**. After deprotection of F-Boc with TFA, the resulting compounds

W. Zhang / Tetrahedron 59 (2003) 4475-4489



Scheme 12. Use of FluoMar[™] tag in the synthesis of amides.





Scheme 13. Synthesis of a substituted hydantoin and thiohydantoin library.



Scheme 14. Synthesis with fluorous protecting groups.



Scheme 15. Fluorous protecting groups.

were each reacted with twelve electrophiles (R^3X) to give a 96-compound library. Other examples for the use of fluorous protecting groups in fluorous mixture synthesis will be discussed in Section 4.

4. Fluorous mixture synthesis (FMS)

FMS has high efficiency in the production of large libraries. This is the first technique that takes advantage of solutionphase synthesis yet still allows the reliable separation of individual pure final products.^{35,36} A typical FMS consists of five steps (Scheme 17): (1) a set of substrates is individually tagged with a corresponding set of homologous fluorous tags with increasing fluorine content; (2) the tagged substrates are mixed together; (3) the mixed components taken through a multi-step synthesis which can be a



Scheme 16. Use of F-Boc in the synthesis of a 96-member amide library.



Scheme 17. Schematic diagram of the concept of FMS.

combination of one-pot reactions or split-parallel reactions; (4) the mixture of tagged products is demixed by F-HPLC to give individually pure tagged-products; and (5) detagging is conducted to release the final products. The efficiency of FMS is directly proportional to the number of components mixed and steps of the mixture synthesis. The split-parallel synthesis at the 3rd step is the key to incorporate new diversity points and increase the size of the library.

4.1. Library or analog synthesis

We have demonstrated the power of FMS by the preparation of a 560-member library of mappicine analogs (Scheme 18).³⁶ A mixture of seven pyridines M-1 (7 different R¹ groups) was taken through a 4-step reaction sequence. The mixture M-1 underwent iodo exchange and demethylation steps to give M-2. The mixture M-2 was then split into 8 portions at the N-propargylation (8 different R²



Scheme 18. 7-Component FMS of a 560-membere mappicine.



Figure 4. A typical tag-based demix of 7-component mixtures by F-HPLC.

groups) step and each of the 8 mixtures M-3 was further split to 10 at the radical annulation with isonitriles (10 different R^3 groups). The resulting eighty mixtures M-4 each containing seven tagged-products were demixed by F-HPLC based on their different fluorine content and then detagged by HF-pyridine to give a 560-member mappicine library (Fig. 4).

At each reaction step, unreacted species and byproducts were removed by standard silica gel flash column chromatography in a mixed mode. In other words, the mixed components were purified without being demixed. Figure 5 shows the purification effort at the alkylation step. A mixture of N-alkylation and O-alkylation products (each has 7-components) in a ratio of 10:1 was observed. A set of 7 O-alkylation byproducts M-5 was separated from a set of seven desired N-alkylation products M-3 by normal flash column chromatography. Standard silica gel separation is based on the polarity difference of the O- and N-alkylated compounds, which is not sensitive to the fluorous tags. The polarity difference of the N- and O-alkylation mixtures also helps the F-HPLC analysis, which showed two set of peaks with slightly different retention times. The synthesis of this 560-membered library was accomplished in 90 reactions (not including the detagging step), compared to 630 for a corresponding parallel synthesis. The overall separations required only 90 chromatography steps, whereas 630 would have been needed with the parallel synthesis.



analyzed by F-HPLC, the mixture of by-product $\ensuremath{\text{M-5}}$ is pointed by the arrows

Figure 5. Purification of a propardylation mixture by standard flash column chromatography.

Synthesis of 4 truncated analogs of natural product (+)discodermolide at the C22 position is another example from Curran and Furukawa which illustrates the utility of FMS (Scheme 19).³⁷ Four starting materials with different R (H, CH=CH₂, Et, Ph) were protected with the corresponding fluorous PMB group (R_f =C₄F₉, C₆F₁₃, C₈F₁₇, C₁₀F₂₁) and combined as a 4-component mixture for FMS to produce 4 truncated analogs of discodermolide.

4.2. Quasiracemic synthesis of enantiomers

Asymmetric synthesis and racemic synthesis/resolution are two general methods for the preparation of enantiopure (or enantioenriched) organic molecules. FMS provides a third option, quasiracemic synthesis, to produce two enantiomeric products in a mixture synthesis. The quasiracemic synthesis is exemplified by Zhang, Rivkin, and by Curran's



Scheme 19. (+)-Discodermolide and truncated analogs at C22.



Scheme 20. Quasiracemic synthesis of (S)- and (R)-pyridovericins.

work on the preparation of two enantiomers of pyridovericin (Scheme 20).³⁸ The (*S*)- and (*R*)-enantiomers of the starting materials were attached to two different fluorous silanes ($R_f=C_6F_{13}$ and C_8F_{17}) and combined together to make a quasienantiomeric mixture. The mixture was then taken through a multi-step synthesis to make a final tagged product mixture. F-HPLC was employed to demix the two quasienantiomers. The tags were then removed to release the (*S*)- and (*R*)-enantiomers of pyridovericin. Quasiracemic synthesis can be considered as the simplest version of FMS with only two mixture components, and only one-pot reactions, no split-parallel reactions, were used in the quasiracemic synthesis.

5. Peptide and oligosaccharide synthesis

Combination of solid-phase synthesis with fluorous synthesis was first explored by Wipf.³⁹ Recently van Boom group reported the use of fluorous tags in the solid-phase peptide synthesis.^{40a} The general concept of this chemistry is outlined in Scheme 21. Fmoc based solid-phase synthesis was used to build up the amino acid chain. At each condensation step the unreacted free amines were capped with acetyl (Ac) groups. After the desired number of iterations, the deprotection of the final Fmoc group was followed by tagging with a fluorous Cbz group. The cleavage of oligomers from the resin provided a mixture



Scheme 21. Schematic diagram of fluorous tag strategy in peptide synthesis.

of desired F-tagged product and Ac-capped truncated sequences. The Cbz-tagged product was then easily separated from the Ac-capped material by F-HPLC. The fluorous Cbz containing a C_8F_{17} chain was found to have enough affinity on the F-HPLC column for the separate peptides with 7–22 amino acids (molecular weight up to 3000). Final detagging provided the desired oligomer.

A similar strategy has been developed in the synthesis of oligosaccharides in both Seeberger and Inazu groups.^{40b,c} In Seeberger's case, the fluorous portion is a 'cap-tag', while the desired oligomeric species is non-fluorous. (Hepta-decafluorodecyl)diisopropylsilyl triflate [TfOSi(*i*Pr)₂(CH₂-CH₂C₆F₁₃)₃] was used to tag the hydroxyl group of unreacted monosaccharides. F-HPLC was again used for the separation of the desired oligosaccharide from the fluorous byproduct. Since the final product is the untagged species, no detagging step is required.

6. Microwave-assisted fluorous synthesis

Microwave-assisted organic synthesis has attracted a substantial amount of attention in recent years.⁴¹ Compared to traditional oil bath heating, microwave irradiation can significantly reduce the reaction times from hours to minutes. However, this technology does not directly address the separation issue, which is usually the bottleneck of high-





Figure 6. Fluorous synthesis with a microwave cavity (top) and an F-SPE manifold (bottom).

1 nour	
--------	--

reaction	purification	characterization
microwave	F-SPE	LC-MS & NMR

Scheme 22. One-hour turn around of microwave-assisted fluorous synthesis.

throughput synthesis. Microwave heating can be used to accelerate solid-phase synthesis,⁴² but the physical integrity of the polymer under heating becomes a new issue that imposes limitations. Because of the thermostability and solution-phase character of fluorous tags, microwave-assisted fluorous synthesis is ideal to speed up both the reaction and purification processes (Fig. 6). Chemists can easily finish a synthesis including reaction, purification, and product characterization in less than 1 h (Scheme 22). The speed advantage for compound production or reaction optimization is tremendous. In a high-throughput synthesis set up, reactions can be run in parallel in a multimode microwave cavity or in sequence with automation in a monomode microwave cavity. The product purification can be done by plate-to-plate F-SPE.

Following up on the early work by Larhed, Hallberg and Curran in the heavy fluorous area,^{43,44} we recently explored the microwave-assisted light fluorous synthesis. Scheme 23 shows a Suzuki coupling reaction of fluorous sulfonates combined with the F-SPE product purification.⁴⁵ A commercially available phenol was converted to a sulfonate by reacting with C_8F_{17} perfluorosulfonyl fluoride. Similar conditions⁴⁶ for traditional thermo Suzuki coupling were applied to microwave reactions except the reaction temperature was higher (100°C) and reaction time was much shorter (10 min).⁴⁷ F-SPE was employed to separate the coupling product from the cleaved fluorous tag.

The benefit of the F-SPE has been magnified by designing a multi-step synthesis. The tagged substrate was taken through two additional transformations before it was reacted



Scheme 23. Microwave-assisted Suzuki coupling of F-sulfonates.



Scheme 24. Multi-step synthesis with F-sulfonate tag.

with boronic acids to generate the C–C bond of biaryl compounds 11 or reacted with HCO_2H to give traceless detagging product 12 (Scheme 24).⁴⁵ At each step of aldol condensation, cycloaddition, and Suzuki coupling, new diversity points can be introduced by running parallel reactions.

7. Conclusions

Fluorous synthesis has the characters of solution-phase reactivity and solid-phase like separation. Fluorous reactions coupled with microwave heating and fluorous silica gel-base separation have great potential to speed up both the chemistry development and library production process. Recent progress on fluorous technologies have demonstrated their broad applications in solution-phase parallel and mixture synthesis. Increasing interests from academic and industrial chemists combined with the strong commercialization effort from FTI will make fluorous technologies become powerful tools in organic synthesis and drug discovery.

Acknowledgements

I sincerely thank Professor Dennis P. Curran for his pioneering work in fluorous synthesis and helping me on writing this article; Dr Zhiyong Luo, Dr Tadamichi Nagashima, Dr Marvin Yu, Ms Christine H.-I. Chen, Mr Jeff Irwin, and Mr Yimin Lu for their research contributions at FTI; Dr Philip Yeske, Dr John Hodges, and Professor Peter Wipf for helpful discussions. Appreciations are also offered to National Institutes of General Medical Sciences for funding our work in this area (1R43GM062717-01, 2R44GM062717-02, 1R43GM066415-01, and 1R43GM067326-01).

References

- (a) Thompson, L. A.; Ellman, J. A. Chem. Rev. 1996, 96, 555.
 (b) Toy, P.; Janda, K. D. Acc. Chem. Res. 2000, 33, 546.
 (c) Seeberger, P. H.; Haase, W.-C. Chem. Rev. 2000, 100, 4349.
 (d) Handbook of Combinatorial Chemistry; Nicolaou, K. C., Hanko, R., Hartwig, W. Eds.; Wiley–VCH; Weinheim: 2002, Vols 1 and 2. (e) Dorwald, F. Z. Organic Synthesis on Solid Phase; Wiley-VCH: Weinheim, 2000. (f) Burgess, K. Solid Phase Organic Synthesis; Wiley: New York, 2000.
- (a) Merritt, A. T. Comb. Chem. High Throughput Screen.
 1998, 1, 57. (b) Coe, D. M.; Storer, R. Mol. Diversity 1999, 4, 31. (c) An, H.; Cook, P. D. Chem. Rev. 2000, 100, 3311.
- (a) Porco, J.-A., Jr. Combo. Chem. High Throughout Screening 2000, 3, 93. (b) Yoshida, J.-I.; Itami, K. Chem. Rev. 2002, 102, 3693.
- (a) Kaldor, S. W.; Siegel, M. G. Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol. 1997, *1*, 101. (b) Shuttleworth, S. J.; Allin, S. M.; Sharma, P. K. Synthesis 1997, 1217. (c) Booth, R. J.; Hodges, J. C. Acc. Chem. Res. 1999, 32, 18. (d) Flynn, D. Med. Res. Rev. 1999, 19, 408. (e) Parlow, J. J.; Devraj, R. V.; South, M. S. Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol. 1999, 3, 320. (f) Thompson, L. A. Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol. 2000, 4, 324. (g) Ley, S. V.; Baxendale, I. R.; Bream, R. N.; Jackson, P. S.; Leach, A. G.; Longbottom, D. A.; Nesi, M.; Storer, R. I.; Taylor, S. J. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 2000, 3815. (h) Hodges, J. C. Synlett 2000, 152. (i) Shuttleworth, S. J.; Allin, S. M.; Wilson, R. D.; Nasturica, D. Synthesis 2000, 1035. (j) Eames, J.; Watkinson, M. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 1213. (k) Kirschning, A.; Monenschein, H.; Wittenberg, R. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 2001, 40, 650.
- 5. (a) Toy, P. H.; Janda, K. D. Acc. Chem. Res. 2000, 33, 546.
 (b) Dickerson, T. J.; Reed, N. N.; Janda, K. D. Chem. Rev. 2002, 102, 3325.
- (a) Kim, R. M.; Manna, M.; Hutchins, S. M.; Griffin, P. R.; Yates, N. A.; Bernick, A. M.; Chapman, K. T. *Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA* **1996**, *93*, 10012. (b) Hovestd, N. J.; Ford, A.; Jastrzebski, J. T. B. H.; van Koten, G. J. Org. Chem. **2000**, *65*, 5338.
- (a) Barrett, A. G.; Hopkins, B. T.; Kobberling, J. Chem. Rev.
 2002, 102, 3301. (b) Flynn, D. L.; Hanson, P. R.; Berk, S. C.; Makara, G. M. Curr. Opin. Drug. Discov. Dev. 2002, 5, 571.
- (a) Cheng, S.; Comer, D. D.; Williams, J. P.; Myers, P. L.; Boger, D. L. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1996**, *118*, 2567. (b) Siegel, M. G.; Hahn, P. J.; Dressman, B. A.; Fritz, J. E.; Grunwell, J. R. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1997**, *38*, 3357.
- Bosanac, T.; Yang, J.; Wilcox, C. S. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 2001, 40, 1875.
- (a) Curran, D. P. Chemtracts-Org. Chem. 1996, 9, 75.
 (b) Studer, A.; Hadida, S.; Ferritto, S. Y.; Kim, P. Y.; Jeger, P.; Wipf, P.; Curran, D. P. Science 1997, 275, 823. (c) Curran, D. P. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1998, 37, 1175. (d) Curran, D. P. Med. Res. Rev. 1999, 19, 432. (e) Curran, D. P. Med. Res. Rev. 1999, 19, 432. (e) Curran, D. P. Pure Appl. Chem. 2000, 72, 1649. (f) Curran, D. P. In Stimulating Concepts in Chemistry; Stoddard, F., Reinhoudt, D., Shibasaki, M., Eds.; Wiley-VCH: New York, 2000; p 25. (g) Curran, D. P.; Hadida, S.; Studer, A.; He, M.; Kim, S.-Y.; Luo, Z.; Larhed, M.; Hallberg, M.; Linclau, B. Combinatorial Chemistry: A Practical Approach; Fenniri, H., Ed.; Oxford University: Oxford, 2001; Vol. 2, p 327. (h) Curran, D. P.; Luo, Z. Green Chem. 2001, 3, G3.
- 11. FTI is a startup company (founded by Dr Dennis P. Curran in 2000) focused on development and commercialization of

fluorous technologies for high-throughput organic synthesis and separations. For more information, log on to http://www.fluorous.com.

- (a) Horvath, I. T.; Rabai, T. *Science* **1994**, *266*, 72. (b) Horvath,
 I. T. *Acc. Chem. Res.* **1998**, *31*, 641. See also reviews: (c) de
 Wolf, E.; van Koten, G.; Deelman, B.-J. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **1999**,
 28, 37. (d) Barthel-Rosa, L. P.; Gladysz, J. A. *Coord. Chem. Rev.* **1999**, 587. (e) Cavazzinni, M.; Montannari, F.; Pozzi, G.;
 Quici, S. J. Fluorine Chem. **1999**, *94*, 183.
- (a) Curran, D. P. Synlett 2001, 1488. (b) Tzschucke, C. C.; Markert, C.; Bannwarth, W.; Roller, S.; Hebel, A.; Haag, R. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2002, 41, 3964.
- (a) Curran, D. P.; Hadida, S.; He, M. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62, 6714. (b) Ryu, I.; Kreimerman, S.; Niguma, T.; Minakata, S.; Komatsu, M.; Luo, Z.; Curran, D. P. Tetrahedron Lett. 2001, 42, 947.
- (a) Curran, D. P.; Luo, Z. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 9069.
 (b) Curran, D. P.; Oderaotoshi, Y. Tetrahedron 2001, 57, 5243.
- For more information on F-SPE, logon to: http://fluorous.com/ download/fspe.pdf.
- (a) Dandapani, S.; Curran, D. P. *Tetrahedron* 2002, *58*, 3855.
 (b) Dobbs, A.; McGregor-Johnson, C. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2002, *43*, 2807.
- (a) Barthelemy, S.; Scheider, S.; Bannwarth, W. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2002**, *43*, 807. (b) Lindsley, C. W.; Zhou, Z.; Newton, R. C.; Leister, W. H.; Strauss, K. A. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2002**, *43*, 4467.
- (a) Curran, D. P.; Hoshino, M. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 6480.
 (b) Curran, D. P.; Hadida, S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 2531.
 (c) Hoshino, M.; Degenkolb, P.; Curran, D. P. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62, 8341.
 (d) Curran, D. P.; Luo, Z.; Degenkolb, P. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 1998, 8, 2403.
 (e) Curran, D. P.; Hadida, S.; Kim, S. Y.; Luo, Z. Y. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 6607.
 (f) Curran, D. P.; Hadida, S.; Kim, S. Y. Tetrahedron 1999, 55, 8997.
 (g) Bucher, B.; Curran, D. P. Tetrahedron 2000, 41, 9617.
- (a) Crich, D.; Neelamkavil, S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 7449. (b) Crich, D.; Neelamkavil, S. Tetrahedron 2002, 58, 3865.
- For a special issue on fluorous chemistry, see: Gladysz, J. A.; Curran, D. P. *Tetrahedron* 2002, *58*, 3823 and references cited therein.
- 22. Crich, D.; Neelamkavil, S. Org. Lett. 2002, 4, 4175.
- (a) Tzschucke, C. C.; Markert, C.; Glatz, H.; Bannwarth, W. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.* 2002, *41*, 4500. (b) Schwinn, D.; Glatz, H.; Bannwarth, W. *Helv. Chim. Acta* 2003, *86*, 188. (c) Jenkins, P. M.; Steele, A. M.; Tsang, S. C. *Catal. Commun.* 2003, *4*, 45. See also (d) Wende, M.; Meier, R.; Gladysz, J. A. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2001, *123*, 11490.
- 24. (a) Zhang, Q.; Luo, Z.; Curran, D. P. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 65, 8866. (b) Curran, D. P.; Moura-Letts, G.; Nagashima, T. Private communication.
- For recent references on BINOL and BINAP in biphasic synthesis, see: (a) Nakamura, Y.; Takeuchi, S.; Okumura, K.; Ohgo, Y.; Curran, D. P. *Tetrahedron* 2002, *58*, 3963. (b) Tian, Y.; Yang, Q. C.; Mac, T. C. W.; Chan, K. S. *Tetrahedron* 2002, *58*, 3951. (c) Chen, W.; Xu, L.; Hu, Y.; Osuna, A. M. B.; Xiao, J. *Tetrahedron* 2002, *58*, 3889. (d) Nakamura, Y.; Takeuchi, S.; Zhang, S.; Okumura, K.; Ohgo, Y. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2002, *43*, 3056. (e) Yin, Y.-Y.; Zhao, G.; Yang, G.-S.; Yin, W.-X. *Chin. J. Chem.* 2002, *20*, 803. (f) Pozzi, G.; Cavazzini, M.; Quici, S.; Maillard, D.; Sinou, D. *J. Mol. Catal. A* 2002, *182–183*, 455.

- For 'heavy fluorous' scavenging and quenching agents, see:
 (a) Linclau, B.; Singh, A. K.; Curran, D. P. *J. Org. Chem.* **1999**, *64*, 2835. (b) Curran, D. P.; Hadida, S.; Kim, S. Y.; Luo, Z. Y. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1999**, *121*, 6607. (c) Wipf, P.; Reeves, J. T.; Balachandran, R.; Giuliano, K. A.; Hamel, E.; Day, B. W. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2000**, *122*, 9391.
- Zhang, W.; Chen, C. H.-T.; Nagashima, T. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2003, 44, 2065.
- Zhang, W.; Curran, D. P.; Chen, C. H.-T. *Tetrahedron* 2002, 58, 3871.
- (a) Lindsley, C. W.; Zhao, Z.; Leister, W. H. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2002**, 43, 4225. (b) Lindsley, C. W.; Zhao, Z.; Leister, W. H.; Strauss, K. A. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2002**, 43, 6319.
- 30. Zhang, W. Org. Lett. 2003, 5, 1011.
- 31. Chen, C. H.-T.; Zhang, W. Org. Lett. 2003, 5, 1015.
- 32. Zhang, W.; Lu, Y. Unpublished results.
- (a) Rover, S.; Wipf, P. *Tetrahedron Lett* **1999**, *40*, 5667. For 'heavy fluorous' protecting groups, see: (a) Rover, S.; Wipf, P. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1990**, *40*, 5667. (b) Pardo, J.; Cobas, A.; Guitian, E.; Castedo, L. *Org. Lett.* **1999**, *3*, 3711. (c) Miura, T.; Inazu, T. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2003**, *44*, 119. (d) Mizuno, M.; Goto, K.; Miura, T.; Hosaka, D.; Inazu, T. *Chem. Commun.* **2003**, 972.
- Luo, Z.; Williams, J.; Read, R. W.; Curran, D. P. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 4261.
- Luo, Z.; Zhang, Q.; Oderaotoshi, Y.; Curran, D. P. Science 2001, 291, 1766.
- Zhang, W.; Luo, Z.; Chen, C. H.-T.; Curran, D. P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 10443.
- 37. Curran, D. P.; Furukawa, T. Org. Lett. 2002, 4, 2233.
- Zhang, Q.; Rivkin, A.; Curran, D. P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 5774.
- 39. Wipf, P. Private communication.
- 40. (a) Filippov, D. V.; van Zoelen, D. J.; Oldfield, S. P.; van der Marel, G.; Overkleeft, H. S.; Drijfhout, J. W.; van Boom, J. H. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2002, 43, 7809. (b) Palmacci, E. R.; Hewitt, M. C.; Seeberger, P. H. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2001, 40, 4433. For separation of tagged oligosaccharides by fluorous solvent extraction, see (c) Miura, T.; Hirose, Y.; Ohmae, M.; Inazu, T. Org. Lett. 2001, 3, 3947. and Ref. 33c.
- 41. (a) Lidstrom, P.; Tierney, J.; Wathey, B.; Westman, J. *Tetrahedron* 2001, *57*, 9225. (b) Larhed, M.; Moberg, C.; Hallberg, A. Acc. Chem. Res. 2002, *35*, 717. (c) Hayes, B. L. *Microwave Synthesis-Chemistry at the Speed of Light*; CEM: NC, 2002. (d) In *Microwaves in Organic Synthesis*; Loupy, A., Ed.; Wiley-VCH: Weinheim, 2002.
- For microwave-assisted solid-phase synthesis, see: (a) Kappe, C. O. In *Microwaves in Organic Synthesis*; Loupy, A., Ed.; Wiley-VCH: Weinheim, 2002; p 405. (b) Kappe, C. O. *Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol.* 2002, *6*, 314.
- For microwave-assisted Stille coupling using 'heavy fluorous' ligands and fluorous liquid–liquid extraction, see: Larhed, M.; Hoshino, M.; Hadida, S.; Curran, D. P.; Hallberg, A. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62, 5583.
- For a 'heavy fluorous' tinhydride-promoted radical reaction, see: Olofsson, K.; Kim, S.-Y.; Curran, D. P.; Hallberg, A. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 64, 4539.
- 45. Zhang, W.; Chen, C. H.-T. Unpublished results.
- (a) Pridgen, L.; Huang, G. K. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 8421. (b) Miyaura, N.; Suzuki, A. Chem. Rev. 1995, 95, 2457.
- 47. The reactions are performed under the license of US patent 6,136,157.

Biographical sketch



Dr Wei Zhang received his PhD from the University of Pittsburgh under the direction of the late Professor Paul Dowd. After a two-year stay at the same University as a Research Assistant Professor, he joined DuPont in 1995. Since 2001 he is a Senior Scientist and Head of Combinatorial Chemistry at Fluorous Technologies, Inc. in Pittsburgh. He leads the effort on research and development of fluorous technologies for solution-phase high-throughput synthesis and separations. Over the years, Dr Zhang has gained extensive experience in both industrial and academic research. His professional areas of interests are lead generation and optimization, free radical chemistry, heterocyclic chemistry, fluorous high-throughput synthesis, and microwave-assisted organic synthesis. He has 5 patents and patent applications, published more than 40 peer-reviewed papers including 2 book chapters and 4 review articles. In the last two years he has delivered many invited lectures and conference presentations on fluorous technologies.